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Management’s review.
Whiteaway Group in brief

Whiteaway Group was founded in 2003 selling 
home appliances online to consumers in Denmark. 
The ambition was to provide consumers with a 
seamless shopping experience when buying home 
appliances. 

The trust of the customers and their experience 
with Whiteaway Group is still at the heart of the 
business when guiding towards the right home 
appliance choices.

In 2011 the well-known Skousen-brand was ac-
quired, adding retail sales through a franchise 
setup, and making Whiteaway Group a true multi-
channel organization. In 2016, the Swedish online 
platform Tretti was acquired further expanding the 
presence across Scandinavia. In 2024, the compan-
ies Bolind and Hvidevare Grossisten became part of 
Whiteaway Group, further strengthening business-
to-business activities.

Today, Whiteaway Group has evolved from a 
pure online company operating in Denmark to 
selling home appliances to private customers and 
professionals through 12 online shops and 85 stores 
across Denmark, Norway, and Sweden. 

At company offices in Aarhus, Herning, and 
Copenhagen in Denmark, Oslo in Norway, and 
Stockholm in Sweden more than 350 dedicated 
employees share a desire to create a lasting impact 
– for the people, the partners, and the planet.
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Development during financial year

MARKET DEVELOPMENT

The financial year of 2023/2024 has been heavily 
impacted by a Nordic home appliances market 
in continuous decline. This has been seen across 
all markets and channels – impacting the entire 
industry in the Nordics. While both Denmark, 
Norway, and Sweden are impacted, the Swedish 
market has been more adversely affected —
especially in online sales channels. 

The consumer behavior is still characterized by 
more conservative spending patterns and a higher 
degree of replacement purchases, which adversely 
affects customers intent to purchase home appli-
ances and other premium products for the home. 

In addition, intense competition on the Nordic 
market for home appliances, a weakened SEK and 
NOK currency compared to DKK/EUR, and global 
supply chain disruptions have had a derivative ef-
fect on the financial year of 2023/2024 in Whiteaway 
Group, which has emphasized the continuous focus 
on cost-effective and responsible operations.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In the financial year of 2023/2024, Whiteaway 
Group continued to execute on the planned 
activities and initiatives outlined in the three-year 
corporate strategy towards 2026. To further expand 
the market position and grow the business within 
the domain of home appliances, the quest of 
Whiteaway Group is to bring comfort and joy to all 
Nordic homes by guiding towards the right home 
appliance choices.

Being a preferred supplier of home appliances and 
premium products for the home in the Nordics, 
the challenging market conditions in Denmark,  
Norway, and Sweden have naturally impacted 
business performance during the financial year. 
Despite tough market conditions, Whiteaway 
Group have managed to retain a very strong 
market position, continuously gaining market 
share. Specifically on the Danish market, the trend 
has been defied by increasing the market share in 
major domestic appliances, while also expanding 
overall market share in Norway and Sweden. 

Sales to professionals and businesses have 
continued the impressive growth rates from 
previous years. To further fuel the ambition of 
increasing the total share of the Danish B2B-market, 
two strategic acquisitions were made during the 
past financial year. Acquisitions of the renowned 
Danish company Bolind – the largest Danish retailer 
solely targeting housing associations as well as 
the Danish reseller of home appliances, Hvidevare 
Grossisten. Both brands will continue to service 
their customers and benefit from the apparent 
synergies within Whiteaway Group.

Further, significant strategic investments 
continued in the business, as outlined in the 
corporate strategy. A new creative universe was 
launched for the Skousen brand, a new B2B 
online shop for professional customers is under 
construction and a major ERP-project was launched 
to ensure future scalability. 

In addition to investments and to address the 
challenging conditions in the Nordics and ensure 
the right level of profitability and sustainability in 
Whiteaway Group, a restructuring of operational 
expenses has been carried out during the financial 
year of 2023/2024 – both in terms of personnel and 
a reduction of complexity in operations across 
the organisation. The restructuring of operational 
expenses is expected to have a positive impact on 
the coming financial year, improving profitability 
and enhancing scalability. 

Hvidevare Grossisten was acquired during the financial year 
and are now part of Whiteaway Group.

Further, during the financial year, the store 
footprint in Denmark, Norway, and Sweden has 
been optimised. The retail activities in Denmark, 
operating through a franchise-setup, have grown 
with three new stores, while three other stores 
have closed through mutual agreement with the 
respective franchisees. Overall, the total number of 
retail stores in Denmark amounts to 67. In Norway, 
the retail operations have undergone some 
restructuring to enhance profitability and market 
relevance. A new flag-ship store was opened while 
another store closed. Overall, the number of retail 
stores in Norway amounts to 18. In Sweden, the sole 
remaining Tretti store has closed through mutual 
agreement with the franchisees.

During the financial year of 2023/2024 the company 
took part in Superdysten – a fundraising event 
organised by the CoolUnite Foundation aimed 
at raising money for sick and vulnerable children. 
Through the retail stores and online activities, 1,21 
MDKK was raised for this great cause. 

Finally, Whiteaway Group was recognised as a 
‘Best Managed Company’ by Deloitte, highlighting 
the principles of doing good while doing business 
and a commitment to responsible leadership and 
operations.

Through Superdysten, Whiteaway Group donated 1,21 MDKK 
to sick and vulnerable children in Denmark

Recognition as a best managed company by Deloitte

Several Skousen stores opened or relocated during the past 
year
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Result of the year

All figures are presented in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as adopted by the EU. All figures represent a full 
12-month accounting period.

The result of the financial year of 2023/2024 shows 
a revenue of 2.422 MDKK compared to 2.273 MDKK 
previous year. The operating profit (EBITDA (before 
special items)) amounted to 8,6 MDKK compared 
to 36,9 MDKK last year.

The result of the financial year of 2023/2024 and 
the combined general performance is below ex-
pectations, though heavily impacted by a market 
in continuous decline, a weak NOK/SEK compared 
to DKK/EUR, two substantial acquisitions made 
to drive future growth, and restructuring costs. 
Management is satisfied with delivering a revenue 
above the previous financial year and find the 
overall result for the year acceptable, considering 
the challenging market conditions and substantial 
investments made. 

Business risk

Whiteaway Group operates in a highly competi-
tive industry with a high degree of product 
transparency. The intellectual capital resources at 
Whiteaway Group are primarily attributable to two 
factors – people and the tech platform. As part of 
the corporate strategy towards 2026, the business 
has invested significantly in not only maintaining 
but developing the tech platform during the past 
financial year.

Given the increasing number of cyberattacks 
occurring globally, IT- and data-security remain a 
high priority in Whiteaway Group. Thus, priority is 
given to ensuring ethical, responsible, and secure 
processing and handling of data throughout 
operations. 

Other main risks are related to exchange rates, 
where the company sources  in DKK/EUR and sells 
in DKK/EUR/NOK/SEK.

Business outlook

The challenging conditions in the market for home 
appliances in the Nordics are expected to continue 
into the next financial year. However, the market 
conditions are not impacting Whiteaway Group to 
a larger extend than any of the competitors and 
gains in market share across the Nordics in the next 
financial year are expected to continue.

It is expected, that Whiteaway Group’s strong 
and stable market position, diversified portfolio 
of channels, and the adjusted level of operational 
expenses will enable the business to grow market 
share while delivering an improved result for the 
year. Expectation is to deliver single digit growth in 
revenue while delivering an EBITDA in the level of 
30-45 MDKK for the financial year of 2024/2025.

Realizing expectations for the coming financial year 
is dependent on the market for home appliances 
remaining at the current level and not declining as 
seen in recent years.

Corporate social responsibility.
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Whiteaway Group has prepared the 
statutory reporting on corporate social 
responsibility or ESG, in accordance 
with sections 99a, 99b, and 99d of the 
Danish Financial Statement Act.

Our business model

The business model is purchasing and selling 
primarily home appliances and secondarily other 
premium electrical product for the home. The 
products are purchased from mainly European 
manufacturers, who deliver products to central 
warehouses in Aarhus and Stockholm, which are 
run by external partners. From here, the products 
are delivered by third party logistic suppliers to 
customers, who purchase the products through 
websites (Denmark, Norway, and Sweden), in stores 
(Denmark and Norway), or via the business-to-
business department (Denmark and Sweden).

As a responsible corporate entity, Whiteaway 
Group firmly believe in taking a broader social 
responsibility. Thus, impact on the environment, 
society, and governance aspects of operations are 
consistently assessed. The first steps within formal-
izing the Double Materiality Assessment have 
started, and the work is expected to be finished 
within the next financial year. Inspiration stems 
from the UN Global Compact’s 10 principles within 
environment, human rights, labour, and anti-
corruption.

Environment

Whiteaway Group are committed to environmental 
protection and continuously striving to reduce 
emissions related to the output. The environmental 
agenda extends across various aspects of oper-
ations, including supplier relations, logistics, dis-
posal of used products, and the overall reduction 
of energy consumption within the company offices 
and franchise stores.

Examples of concrete initiatives from the previous 
financial year include refurbishment of used 
IT-equipment, donation of bottle deposits to 
‘husforbi’-organisation, and introduction of ‘Senior 
Days’ to support senior employees with additional 
leave days.

Considering the forthcoming EU Corporate Sus-
tainability Reporting Directive (CSRD), intended 
to replace the current EU directive known as the 
Non-Financial Reporting Directive (NFRD) soon, 
the directive have been thoroughly reviewed. 
The company objective has been to progressively 
align the reporting content and format with the 
forthcoming reporting standards. A partnership 
with an external provider of CO2e solutions has 
matured the business and provided indications on 
scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions. However, more detailed 
reporting to support the strategy and business 
going forward is necessary. This furthermore 
supports that Whiteaway Group are compliant  
with the standards of the GHG Protocols, CSRD, 
and EU regulations.

Energy Consumption and 
Emissions 

Regarding energy consumption, involvement in  
the life cycle of home appliances is acknowledged 
by the company, despite not directly manufacturing 
the appliances. Collaboration with suppliers con-
tinue to minimize environmental impact, with 
many of them being esteemed international con-
glomerates with CSR policies and a strong focus 
on environmental, social, and governance factors. 
The share of environmentally friendly products 
sold in MDA assortments is tracked by utilizing the 
Energy Labels from the EU on the products sold, 
to calculate the share of Promoters; high ratings, 
against Neutrals and Detractors; lower ratings. 

Whiteaway Group recognizes that energy con-
sumption and CO2e emissions are major risks to 
the climate and environment, with most energy 
consumption occurring during consumer use of 
products. Sustainability is a core strategic pillar, 
and efforts to guide customers towards more 
energy-efficient options and explore innovative 
ways to extend product life cycles is something the 
company is committed to as a responsible home 
appliance retailer.

Transportation within the value chain also sig-
nificantly contributes to energy consumption and  
emission levels. Therefore, there is a focused effort 
on partnering with last mile distribution and ware-
house management entities to reduce energy 
usage. 
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Guiding the Customer in Making 
Better choices

In line with the quest to ’bring comfort and joy to all 
Nordic homes by guiding towards the right home 
appliance choices’, Whiteaway Group are dedicated 
to matching customers with products that meet 
their specific requirements while also considering 
sustainability aspects. To ensure the best possible 
assistance to the customers, guides are accessible 
on webshops and instore. 

Additionally, all store personnel have received 
specialized training to offer expert advice. Online 
customer consultants are well-equipped to provide 
guidance to customers through mail, chat, and 
phone interactions. This commitment to high-
quality customer support, coupled with guidance 
on new energy labels and energy consumption 
reduction, benefits both the customers and the 
environment. The Customer Success Agency dili-
gently continues to support and enhance this 
trend, efficiently managing several thousand calls 
per month.

Responsible Disposal

As a natural extension of the commitment to 
environmental responsibility, solutions for the 
collection and disposal of products at the end 
of their life cycle are provided, ensuring safe and 
correct disposal practices. 

To achieve this, there is close collaboration with 
external partners who specialize in repairing and 
reusing spare parts, whenever feasible, for all 
scrapable products stored at warehouses, as well 
as returned or damaged items. The products that 
cannot be repaired are efficiently recycled, with 
materials sorted into appropriate categories, such  
as plastic, iron, copper, or aluminum. By imple-
menting these practices and following them in the 
financial year, the company actively contributes 
to reducing waste and minimizing environmental 
impact.

Social.
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Social responsibility encompasses 
well-being of the employees, 
emphasizing equal opportunities, 
value-based workplaces, and employee 
engagement. Whiteaway Group are 
committed to diversity in leadership 
positions and have a zero-tolerance 
policy for human rights violations, 
including child labour, forced labour, 
and human trafficking.

Diversity

The company fosters an open and inclusive en-
vironment, welcoming employees from diverse 
backgrounds. Diversity is viewed as essential for 
engaging with the diverse customer base. Inter-
nationally proclaimed human rights are upheld,  
and discrimination or harassment is strictly pro-
hibited as stated in the employee handbook. This 
subject is addressed in recruitment workshops 
for leaders, introduction to new employees, and 
through leadership development programs. The 
leadership principles emphasize creating an in-
clusive and non-discriminatory culture.

 
GENDER DISTRIBUTION IN CURRENT 
EMPLOYEES (40% FEMALE, 60% MALE): 

146  
(40%)

218  
(60%)

l Female 
l Male

Employee Satisfaction

The workforce in Whiteaway Group and underlying 
companies comprises 364 full-time employees 
across locations in Denmark, Norway, and Sweden 
- with 40% identifying as women and 60% as men. 

It is firmly believed that the overall well-being  
and satisfaction of employees are key to main-
taining high customer satisfaction and ensuring 
business success. Biannually, all Whiteaway Group  
employees across functions and seniority are 
encouraged to give voice on their overall well-being 
and job satisfaction in an Employee Satisfaction 
Survey. In the latest survey completed in 2024, the 
overall job satisfaction remained at a high level 
with a score of 78. In comparison, the average level 
among other companies utilizing the same survey 
platform is 72.

Besides an overall score, the Employee Satisfaction 
Survey provides feedback and input on which areas 
employees see the most potential for improvement. 
In that regard, to enhance balance and a sense of 
achievement, Focus Time has been introduced as 
a concept across Whiteaway Group, meaning full 
focus from 09:00-10:30 every day with a minimum 
number of meetings, less noise, fewer disturbances, 
and more flow.

Throughout 2023/24, the leadership program has 
continued, extending the same training oppor-
tunities to all new leaders while providing seasoned 
leaders with support to further hone their skills. This 
strategic investment in leadership development 
aims to foster a positive work environment while 
acknowledging that low employee satisfaction 
and attracting and retaining talent present one 
of the most material risks for Whiteaway Group. 
Since introducing the leadership program in the 
end of 2021, the leadership-factor has consequently 
remained one of the highest-rated factors by 
employees in the biannual job satisfaction 
survey. In the future, employees will continue 
to be encouraged to give voice through the job 
satisfaction survey.

 
5 YEAR OVERVIEW OF EMPLOYEE SATISFACTION IN WHITEAWAY GROUP

75

78
79

80

78

2022-1 2022-2 2023-1 2023-2 2024-1



16 WHITEAWAY GROUP MANAGEMENT’S REVIEW WHITEAWAY GROUP MANAGEMENT’S REVIEW 17

Code of Conduct

Since 2014, Whiteaway Group have had a Code of 
Conduct in place to ensure suppliers and partners 
comply with the company principles. This Code 
of Conduct applies to all suppliers, based on 
country risk and purchase volume. Adherence 
to official standards is expected from all vendors. 
Priority is given to addressing the significant risks  
of forced labour and human trafficking in the sup- 
ply chain. To mitigate these risks, the Code of 
Conduct is now an obligatory part of annual 
negotiations with suppliers, making compliance a 
requirement for all.

To further strengthen the commitment to human 
rights, a whistle-blower system has been made 
available to anyone who has had any business 
dealings with Whiteaway Group, directly or 
indirectly, and it enables the reporting of any 
potential human rights violations. There have been 
zero cases reported this year.

The importance of the Code of Conduct and 
the whistle-blower system will be reinforced 
through continued leadership training initiatives. 
Whiteaway Group believe that fostering a culture 
of ethics and responsibility among its leaders is 
crucial in upholding the commitment to human 
rights and ensuring a fair and respectful business 
environment.

Anti-corruption

Accepting or offering any form of compensation 
that could compromise impartiality in business 
decisions is strictly prohibited. Laws and regulations 
to prevent bribery are diligently followed, and this 
policy is embedded in the employee handbook, 
supplier contracts, and Code of Conduct, and 
reinforced by the whistle-blower system. During 
the year, focus has been kept on keeping anti-
corruption top-of-mind for all relevant employees 
– and no violations have been identified in the 
financial year. Focus on this area will continue in 
2024/25 negotiations with suppliers, as well as any 
other business setting.

At Whiteaway Group, transparency, sustainability, 
and ethical business practices are highly valued. 
The commitment to corporate social responsibility 
is an integral part of the strategic approach and 
will continue to be evolved and enhanced to have 
a positive impact on society and the environment.

The most material risks related to anti-corruption 
exist in the supply chain, which is mitigated  
through i.e. the Code of Conduct and whistle-
blower system.

Governance.
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Whiteaway Group is governed 
according to all regulations and best 
practices and continuously work to 
ensure that internal practices, tools, 
and controls are strengthened and 
documented.

Gender Distribution in 
management cf. §99b

As a company operating across Denmark, Norway, 
and Sweden with a broad and diverse customer 
portfolio, Whiteaway Group strive to have an 
inclusive environment with a diverse workforce 
reflecting the markets and customer base - through 
promoting various aspects of diversity, including 
gender balance, openness to all forms of sexual 
orientation, race and ethnicity, disability, and age.

Diversity in Board of Directors

Whiteaway Group recognize the current 
underrepresentation of women in the Board 
of Directors. Currently, the board in Whiteaway 
Group A/S consists of six members, whereas the 
underrepresented gender accounts for 0%. In the 
past year, the board has been supplemented with 
Pål Wibe, Norwegian, who joined as new chairman 
and Jeppe Bredahl, who joined as member of the 
board. 

In the current financial year, Whiteaway Group A/S 
have made concerted efforts to identify potential 
candidates for the Board of Directors, actively 
seeking qualified individuals, including those from 
underrepresented gender, to enhance diversity. 
Despite commitment to achieving 33.33% female 

representation on the Board of Directors by 2025, 
Whiteaway Group have not been successful 
yet in recruiting suitable candidates from the 
underrepresented gender to the Board of Directors.

Even though the composition of the Board of 
Directors is tied to the ownership group, the 
company remain committed in striving to 
attract all genders and people from different 
backgrounds to future positions. Recognizing 
the need to refine approach to attract candidates 
from underrepresented genders, the timeline 
is extended to 2028. This adjustment allows for 
development and implementation of a more 
sustainable and effective recruitment strategy, with 
a renewed focus on increasing the representation 
of the underrepresented gender to create a more 
balanced and diverse board.

TOP MANAGERIAL POSITION (BOARD OF DIRECTORS)

2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028

Total number of 
members

6 / / / /

Underrepresented 
gender in pct.

0% / / / /

Target figure in pct. 33,33% / / / /

Year for fulfillment of 
target figure

2028 / / / /

Members of the board 

Pål Wibe
Chairman

Johannes Gadsbøll
Founder and Member 
of the Board

Ib Nørholm
Member of the Board

Jon Kristensen
Member of the Board

Lars Fløe Nielsen
Member of the Board

Jeppe Bredahl
Member of the Board
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Diversity in management

In the financial year of 2023/2024, Whiteaway 
Group A/S has had an average number of full-time 
employees of fewer than 50 – due to employees 
in the group being employed in the underlying 
company; Whiteaway A/S. The other management 
for Whiteaway Group A/S is defined as the first 

level: The Executive Board. In 2023/24 in Whiteaway 
Group A/S, the other management consist of one 
person, whereas the underrepresented gender is 
0%.

There is therefore an equal gender distribution in 
the other management of Whiteaway Group A/S.

OTHER MANAGERIAL POSITIONS (LEVEL 1 AND LEVEL 2)

2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028

Total number of 
members

1 / / / /

Underrepresented 
gender in pct.

0% / / / /

Target figure in pct. / / / / /

Year for fulfillment of 
target figure

/ / / / /

Senior leadership team

Jonas Hald Johansen
CEO

Jakob Nørgaard
Chief Commercial 
Officer

Anne Lange
Chief People, Planet & 
Strategy Officer

Kim Trier Meyer
Chief Retail Officer

Darren Brian Bett
Group Chief Financial 
Officer

Morten Hammelsvang
Chief Business Sales 
Officer

Iben Stenholm
Director of Marketing

Niels Katholm
Director of Logistics & 
Customer Care

Jacob Balshøj
Chief B2C Sales & 
Marketing Officer

Thomas Rosendahl
Chief Product & 
Technology Officer

Data ethics

At Whiteaway Group, privacy, compliance with 
GDPR, and general data ethics in activities are 
prioritized. Through 2023/2024, the company 
have continued working with data ethics  
and the ambition for data ethical behavior is to 
always have a responsible and proper usage of 
data and to create and obtain transparency in data 
collection and data handling.

The primary data type in Whiteaway Group is ad-
ministrative data, i.e., data regarding employees, 
suppliers, and customers. The data is collected, 
stored, and used in salary payments, creditor pay-
ments, invoices etc. All data is stored and handled 
in systems through which only relevant employees 
have access – through specific access levels and 
login.

Decisions on the use of data and new technologies 
are anchored in the Senior Leadership Team, who 
evaluate efforts on an ongoing basis and ensure 
that data ethical questions are processed at next-
level management level – with involvement of 
relevant employees.

In general, it is ensured that all employees in 
Whiteaway Group contribute to ethical and 
responsible processing and handling of personal 
data and other data forms by emphasizing the 
importance of data ethics, data security, and cor-
rect handling of data in relevant forums.

Specific handling of customer data is described in 
detail on subsidiary companies’ (Whiteaway A/S 
and Skousen Online Services A/S) websites in their 
personal data policies.

Own shares

Whiteaway Group A/S own 7,755 pcs. of own 
shares, corresponding to 1,32% of the share capital. 
Whiteaway Group A/S has not purchased or sold 
own shares during the year.
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Financial highlights for the Group.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE GROUP 
DKK THOUSANDS

2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21  
(9 mth)

2019/20

Total revenue 2.421.658 2.273.194 2.383.289 1.985.644 2.427.213

EBITDA 
Operating profit (EBIT) 
Net financial items 
Total profit for the year

8.562 
-26.045 

-3.405 
-22.522

36.918 
29.768 
-9.937 
15.493

80.655 
75.889 
-6.087 
52.838

109.892 
104.695 

1.212 
82.410

93.649 
83.199 
-5.245 
61.199

Total assets 
Total equity 
Investments in PPE, 
including lease asset

926.662 
227.593 

 
45.110

805.118 
253.192 

 
8.060

812.431 
249.810 

 
100

899.126 
267.034 

 
97

828.819 
182.782 

 
797

Profit margin 
Return on equity 
Equity ratio

-1,1% 
-9,4% 
24,6%

1,4% 
6,1% 

31,4%

3,2% 
20,4% 
30,7%

5,3% 
36,6% 
29,7%

3,4% 
43,9% 
22,1%

Definitions:

Profit margin is operating profit divided by total 
revenue.

Return on equity is the total profit for the year 
divided by the average equity (average of equity 
at the beginning of the year and at the end of the 
year).

Equity ratio is total equity divided by total assets

Key figures defined according to Recommen-
dations & Financial Ratios issued by the Danish 
Finance Society
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Financial statements.

Management’s statement

The Board of Directors and the Executive Board 
have today discussed and approved the an-nual 
report of WhiteAway Group A/S for the financial 
year 1 August 2023 - 31 July 2024.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the EU and additional requirements 
of the Danish Financial State-ments Act.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements and the parent company financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and the Parent Company at 

31 July 2024 and of the results of their operations 
and cash flows for the financial year 1 August 2023 
– 31 July 2024.

Further, in our opinion, the Management’s review 
gives a fair review of the development in the 
Group’s and the Parent Company’s activities and 
financial matters, results for the year, cash flows 
and financial position as well as a description of 
material risks and uncertainties that the Group and 
the Parent Company face.

Aarhus, 31 October 2024

Executive Board:

Jonas Hald Johansen

CEO

Board of Directors:

Pål Wibe

Chairman

Lars Fløe Nielsen

Johannes E. K. Gadsbøll

Jon Tophøj Kristensen

Ib Dyhr Nørholm

Jeppe Østergaard Bredahl
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Independent auditor’s report 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WHITEAWAY GROUP A/S

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments and the parent company financial state-
ments of WhiteAway Group A/S for the financial 
year 1 August 2023 – 31 July 2024, which comprise 
income statement, statement of comprehensive 
income, balance sheet, statement of changes in 
equity, cash flow statement and notes, including 
accounting policies, for the Group and the Parent 
Company. The consolidated financial statements 
and the parent com-pany financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and 
additional requirements of the Danish Financial 
Statements Act. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements and the parent company financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and the Parent Company at 
31 July 2024 and of the results of the Group’s and 
the Parent Company’s opera-tions and cash flows 
for the financial year 1 August 2023 – 31 July 2024 in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and additional 
require-ments of the Danish Financial Statements 
Act.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and 
additional requirements applicable in Denmark. 
Our responsibilities under those standards and 
requirements are further described in the “Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements and the parent company 
financial statements” (hereinafter collectively re-
ferred to as “the financial statements”) section 
of our report. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opin-ion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and the  
additional ethical requirements applicable in  
Denmark, and we have fulfilled our other ethical  
responsibilities in accordance with these require-
ments and the IESBA Code. 

Statement on the Management’s 
review

Management is responsible for the Management’s 
review. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the Management’s review, and we 
do not express any assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the Man-
agement’s review and, in doing so, consider 
whether the Management’s review is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements, or our 
knowledge obtained during the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. Moreover, it is 
our responsibility to consider whether the Man- 
agement’s review provides the information required 
under the Danish Fi-nancial Statements Act.

Based on our procedures, we conclude that the 
Management’s review is in accordance with the 
financial statements and has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Danish 
Financial Statements Act. We did not identify 
any material misstatement of the Management’s 
review. 

Management’s responsibilities for 
the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements and parent 
company financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with Interna-tional Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and 
additional requirements of the Danish Financial 
Statements Act and for such internal control as 
Management deter-mines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from mate-rial misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Management 
is responsible for assessing the Group’s and the 
Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting in prepar-ing the financial 
statements unless Management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
as to whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an au-ditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and 
additional require-ments applicable in Denmark 
will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Mis-statements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs and additional requirements applica-ble in 
Denmark, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

	● �Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal 
control.

	● �Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s and the Parent Company’s internal 
control.
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	● �Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of ac-
counting estimates and related disclosures 
made by Management.

	● �Conclude on the appropriateness of Manage-
ment’s use of the going concern basis of ac-
counting in preparing the financial statements 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s and the Parent Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inade-
quate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group and 
the Parent Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

	● �Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and contents of the financial statements, 
including the note disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that gives 
a true and fair view.

	● �Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the en-
tities or business activities within the Group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with govern-
ance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Aarhus, 31 October 2024

EY Godkendt Revisionspartnerselskab

CVR no. 30 70 02 28

Morten Friis

State Authorised Public Accountant 
Identification No: mne32732

Jonas Busk

State Authorised Public Accountant 
Identification No: mne42771

Consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
for the year ended 31 July 2024 

 

        2023/24  2022/23 

        DKK thousands  DKK thousands 

      Notes     

           
Revenue        2.355.854  2.202.981 
Other revenue       65.804  70.213 

Total revenue     4  2.421.658  2.273.194 

           
Cost of sales        -2.034.878  -1.912.967 

Gross profit       386.780  360.227 

           
Staff costs      5  -177.123  -151.399 
Other external costs     6  -201.095  -171.910 

EBITDA (Before special items)     8.562  36.918 
        
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
losses   11, 12  -13.809  -7.150 
Special items    7  -20.798  0 

Operating profit/loss       -26.045  29.768 

           
Financial income     8  27.224  17.178 
Financial costs     9  -30.629  -27.115 

Profit/loss before tax       -29.450  19.831 

           
Income tax      10  6.928  -4.338 

Profit/loss for the year      -22.522  15.493 

           

           
Attributable to:          
Equity holders of the parent      -22.522  15.493 

        -22.522  15.493 

  

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 July 2024 
 

        2023/24  2022/23 

        DKK thousands  DKK thousands 

      Notes     
Profit for the year       -22.522  15.493 

           
Other comprehensive income         
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax):       
Exchange differences on translation of foreign opera-
tions    -3.077  -12.111 
Net other comprehensive income that may be reclas-
sified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:    -3.077  -12.111 

           
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    -25.599  3.382 

           
           
Attributable to:          
Equity holders of the parent      -25.599  3.382 

        -25.599  3.332 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 July 2024 

       2023/24  2022/23 
     Notes   DKK thousands DKK thousands 

Assets                    
Non-current assets          

Intangible assets     11     
Goodwill       142.600  142.600 
Software       1.282  1.582 
Brand       5.625  8.125 
Other intangible assets      8.177  2.449 
Development projects      14.346  0 
Total intangible assets      172.030  154.756 

          
Tangible assets     12     
Right-of-use asset, land and buildings    10.736  4.732 
Right-of-use asset, other tangible assets    3.289  0 
Land and buildings    17.188  0 
Fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment    10.216  1.159 
Total Tangible assets      41.429  5.891 

          
Financial assets     13     
Lease receivables       87.888  88.088 
Non-current financial assets      14.612  11.596 
Total Financial assets      102.500  99.684 

          
Deferred tax assets     14  677  5.908 

          
Total non-current assets      316.636  266.239 

          
Current assets          

Inventories     15  308.835  280.667 
          

Receivables     13     
Tax corporation (Joint taxation)     9.504  0 
Trade receivables       122.110  142.453 
Other receivables       36.711  28.395 
Prepayments       12.532  13.244 
Lease receivables       37.585  41.917 
Total receivables       218.442  226.009 

Cash and short-term deposits    13  82.749  32.203 
          

Total current assets      610.026  538.879 
          

Total assets       926.662  805.118 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 July 2024 

       2023/24  2022/23 

     Notes   DKK thousands DKK thousands 

Equity and liabilities                   
Equity          
Issued capital       588  588 
Retained earnings       238.490  261.012 
Foreign currency translation reserve     -11.485  -8.408 
Equity attributable to equity holder of the parent    227.593  253.192           
          
Non-current liabilities    13     
Lease liabilities       96.974  90.285 

          
Total non-current liabilities      96.974  90.285 

          
Current liabilities     13     
Credit institutions       105.991  101.607 
Trade payables       376.621  219.281 
Payables to group entities       1.076  0 
Lease liabilities       42.165  44.752 
Income tax payable     10  5.803  1.495 
Deferred income       3.255  9.965 
Other payables       67.184  84.541 

          
Total current liabilities      602.095  461.641 

          
Total liabilities       699.069  551.926 

          
Total equity and liabilities      926.662  805.118 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 July 

 

 
DKK thousands Attributable to the equity holders of the parent     

 
Issued 
capital   

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve   

Retained 
earnings     Total   

Non-
control-

ling       
interests   

Total 
equity 

             
As at 1 August 2022 588  3.703  245.519   249.810  0  249.810 

Profit for the period 0  0  15.493   15.493  0  15.493 

Other comprehensive income:             
Exchange difference on transla-
tion of foreign operations 0  -12.111  0   -12.111  0  -12.111 
Total comprehensive income 0  -12.111  15.493   3.382  0  3.382 

             
As at 31 July 2023 588  -8.408  261.012      253.192  0  253.192 

             
DKK thousands Attributable to the equity holders of the parent     

 
Issued 
capital   

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve   

Retained 
earnings     Total   

Non-
control-

ling       
interests   

Total 
equity 

             
As at 1 August 2023 588  -8.408  261.012      253.192  0  253.192 
Profit for the period 0  0  -22.522   -22.522  0  -22.522 
Other comprehensive income:             
Exchange differences on transla-
tion of foreign operations 0  -3.077  0   -3.077  0  -3.077 
Total comprehensive income 0  -3.077  -22.522   -25.599  0  -25.599 

             
As at 31 July 2024 588  -11.485  238.490      227.593  0  227.593 

  

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 July 2024 

 

       2023/24  2022/23 

     Notes  DKK thousands  DKK thousands 
          

Operating profit/loss      -26.045   29.768  
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses    13.809   7,150  
Change in working capital   16  105.909   -73.534 
Other adjustments      10,312  0 
Interest recieved      21,594  17,178 
Interest paid      -24,367  -27,115 
Income tax, regulation      6,963   -16.048  

          
Net cash flows from operating activi-
ties     108.175   -62.601 

          
Purchase of intangible assets     -14.346   -135  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment    -9.027   -100  
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash received  20  -27.342  0           
Net cash flows form investment activi-
ties     -50,715   -235 

          
Change in long-term receivables     -3,016   774  
Payment of lease liabilities     -46.363   -43.267  
Received lease payments      38.575   41.244  

          
Net cash flows from financing activi-
ties     -10.784   -1.249 

          
Net change in cash and cash equiva-
lents     46.676   -64.063  
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 August     -69.404   6.770  
Net foreign exchange difference     -514   -12.111  

          
Cash and cash equivalents 31 July     -23.242  -69.404 

          
Cash and cash equivalents 31 July specified:       
Cash and short-term deposits     82.749  32.203 
Credit intitutions      -105.991  -101.607           
Cash and cash equivalents   17  -23.242   -69.404 
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Index to Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
1  Corporate information 

   

2  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

3  Significant accounting judgements, estimates, and assumptions  
        
 Notes to the income statement   

4  Total revenue 
    

5  Staff costs      
6  Other external costs     
7  Special items    
8  Other financial income    
9  Other financial costs     

10  Income tax      
        
 Notes to the balance sheet    

11  Intangible assets     
12  Tangible assets including leases     
13  Financial assets and Financial liabilities   
14  Deferred tax     
15  Inventories     

         
 Notes to the cash flow statement   

16  Change in working capital    
17  Cash and cash equivalents  

        
 Other notes     

18  Related party disclosures    
19  Capital management    
20  Business combinations    
21  Events after the reporting period   
22  New financial reporting regulations   
23  Contingent liabilities and financial commitments  

 
  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
1 Corporate information 

WhiteAway Group A/S and its subsidiaries (the Group) primary business area is selling home ap-
pliances. The Group's main business is selling through the Group's e-commerce platforms, sales 
through a franchise set-up and B2B sales to the professional segment as well as partnerships. The 
Group operates in Denmark, Norway and Sweden. 
 
2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

The financial statement section of the annual report for the period 1 August 2023 – 31 July 2024 
comprises the consolidated financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries and the sepa-
rate parent company financial statements. 
 
Accounting policies are the same as last year. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the separate parent company financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU and further Danish requirements for class C large enterprises. 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The functional currency of the Group is Danish kroner. The presentation currency of the consoli-
dated financial statements and the separate parent company financial statements is Danish kro-
ner. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.  
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The subsidiaries, which are consolidated in the Group, are: 
 

     

Share of issued 
share capital and 

voting rights    

Principal place of busi-
ness and country of in-
corporation 

WhiteAway A/S     100%    Aarhus, Denmark 
- Bolind A/S     100%    Søborg, Denmark 
-  WhiteAway NO AS     100%    Oslo, Norway 

 -  Skousen GLH AS     100%    Oslo, Norway 
  - Skousen Sartor AS     100%    Sartor, Norway 
  - Skousen Sandefjord AS  100%    Sandefjord, Norway 
  - Skousen Åsane AS     100%    Åsane, Norway 

 -  Skousen Eiendommer-Norge AS   100%    Oslo, Norway 
-  WhiteAway AB     100%    Stockholm, Sweden 
Skousen Online Services A/S    100%    Aarhus, Denmark 
-  SOS Ejendomme 1 ApS    100%    Aarhus, Denmark 
Tretti AB     100%    Stockholm, Sweden 
Panorama Retail AB     100%    Umeå, Sweden 
Aktieselskabet af 25.2.2021    100%    Aarhus, Denmark 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
Basis of consolidation (Continued) 
The following shareholders own more than 5 % of the share capital and the voting rights in 
WhiteAway Group A/S:  
 
         Brightfolk A/S, Store Torv 1, 3, Aarhus, Denmark 
         HAK Holding ApS, Stationsgade 27B, Aarhus, Denmark 
         Ib Dyhr Nørholm Holding ApS, Frederiksgade 2, 1., 1265 København K 
 
Ultimate owner of WhiteAway Group A/S is HEARTLAND A/S, Store Torv 1, 3, Aarhus, Denmark 
 
 
Accounting policies, income statement 
 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
 

Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised at delivery. Revenue from contracts 
with customers is recognised when control of the goods is transferred to the customer at an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods. The Group takes into account the amount of any trade discounts and expected re-
turns, and excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties such as sales taxes and value 
added taxes.  
 
The Group provides customers with a right to return the goods within a specified period, and a 
refund liability and a right of return asset will be recognised. The Group uses historical return data 
to estimate the expected return percentages. These percentages are applied to determine the 
expected value of the variable consideration related to returns. 
 
Other revenue  
 

Other revenue comprises royalties and fees, delivery & installation services and other after sales 
services.  
 
Cost of sales 
 
Cost of sales comprises the cost incurred in generating revenue.  
 
Staff costs 
 
Staff costs comprise salaries and wages as well as social security contributions, pension contribu-
tions and related costs. 
 
Other external costs 
 

Other external cost includes expenses relating to the Group’s ordinary activities, including ex-
penses for premises, stationery and office supplies, marketing costs, etc. This item also includes 
write-downs of receivables recognised in current assets. 

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 
 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses comprise depreciation of plant and equip-
ment and right-of-use assets for the financial year and amortisation of intangible assets for the 
financial year. 
 
Financial income and expenses  
 
Financial income and expenses comprise interest income and expenses including interest ex-
penses related to lease liabilities (all leases except for short-term leases and leases of low value 
assets) as well as exchange rate gains and losses on transactions denominated in foreign curren-
cies. Moreover, financial income and expenses comprise amortisation of financial assets and lia-
bilities as well as surcharges and refunds under the on-account tax scheme. 
 
Income Tax for the year 
 
Tax for the year, which consists of current tax for the year and changes in deferred tax, is recog-
nised in the income statement, other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
 
 
Accounting policies, statement of financial position 
 
Intangible assets 
 
Goodwill 
 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest 
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition goodwill is measured at cost net of accumulated impairment 
losses if any. Goodwill is not amortised. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired 
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to the Group's cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the combination.  
 

Acquired intangible assets 
 

Acquired intangible assets comprise acquired intellectual property rights. Intangible assets ac-
quired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets ac-
quired in a business combination is fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recogni-
tion, intangible assets are carried at cost net of accumulated amortisation and accumulated im-
pairment losses if any. Acquired intangible assets related to Brand value is assessed and valued 
at time of acquisition and depreciated over a maximum 10 years.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
Other intangible assets 
 
Software and other intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Subsequent to 
initial recognition software and other intangible assets are measured at cost net of accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
 
The cost of development projects comprises costs such as salaries and amortisation that are di-
rectly and indirectly attributable to the development projects. Development projects on clearly 
defined and identifiable products and processes, for which the technical rate of utilisation, ade-
quate resources and a potential future market or development opportunity in the entity can be 
established, and where is an intention to manufacture, market or apply the product or process in 
question, are recognised as intangible assets. Other development costs are expensed in the in-
come statement as incurred. 
 
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as 
follows: 
 
Software: 5 years 
Other intangible assets: 3-10 years 
 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
 

Property, plant and equipment comprise other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment. Prop-
erty, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost comprising purchase price and any costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition until the date, when the asset is available for use.  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition property, plant and equipment is measured at cost net of accu-
mulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses if any. 
 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as 
follows: 
 
Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment:  3-5 years 
Land and buildings    10-48 years  
 

 
Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 
 
The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if necessary. 
 
 

  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
Right-of-use assets 
 

At contract inception it is assessed whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A single recognition 
and measurement approach is applied for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of 
low value assets. Right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets and lease 
liabilities to make lease payments are recognised.  
 
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease. Right-of-use assets 
are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses if any, and adjusted 
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of 
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the  
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, 
as follows: 
 
Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment: 1-5 years 
 
The short-term lease recognition exemption is applied to short-term leases (leases that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option). The lease of low value assets recognition exemption is applied to leases that are consid-
ered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Impairment testing of non-current assets 
 

Goodwill is tested annually. The carrying amount of other non-current assets is evaluated annu-
ally for indications of impairment.  
 
If indications of impairment exist, tests are performed to determine whether recognition of im-
pairment losses is necessary for individual assets as well as groups of assets. If the recoverable 
amount is lower than an asset's carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised so that the 
carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount.  
 
The recoverable amount is the higher value of an asset's net sales price and its value in use. The 
value in use is assessed as the present value of the expected net cash flow from utilisation of the 
asset or the group of assets and expected net cash flow from disposal of the asset or the group of 
assets after the end of the useful life. 
 
Non-current financial assets 
 
Non-current financial assets are measured at amortised cost, usually equalling nominal value less 
write downs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
Right-of-use assets 
 

At contract inception it is assessed whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A single recognition 
and measurement approach is applied for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of 
low value assets. Right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets and lease 
liabilities to make lease payments are recognised.  
 
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease. Right-of-use assets 
are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses if any, and adjusted 
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of 
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the  
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, 
as follows: 
 
Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment: 1-5 years 
 
The short-term lease recognition exemption is applied to short-term leases (leases that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option). The lease of low value assets recognition exemption is applied to leases that are consid-
ered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Impairment testing of non-current assets 
 
Goodwill is tested annually. The carrying amount of other non-current assets is evaluated annu-
ally for indications of impairment.  
 
If indications of impairment exist, tests are performed to determine whether recognition of im-
pairment losses is necessary for individual assets as well as groups of assets. If the recoverable 
amount is lower than an asset's carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised so that the 
carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount.  
 
The recoverable amount is the higher value of an asset's net sales price and its value in use. The 
value in use is assessed as the present value of the expected net cash flow from utilisation of the 
asset or the group of assets and expected net cash flow from disposal of the asset or the group of 
assets after the end of the useful life. 
 
Non-current financial assets 
 

Non-current financial assets are measured at amortised cost, usually equalling nominal value less 
write downs. 
  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
Inventories 
 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost price according to the FIFO principle and net real-
isable value. The cost consists of the purchase price including delivery costs. Supplier discounts 
directly attributable to the article in inventory, reduces the calculated cost.  
 
The net realisable value of inventories is calculated as the estimated selling price less completion 
costs and costs incurred to execute sale. 
 
Trade receivables, lease receivables and other financial assets 
 

Receivables are measured at amortised cost, usually equalling nominal value less write downs for 
bad and doubtful debts. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component 
are measured at transaction price.  
 
Impairment is recognised as an allowance for expected credit losses for all debt instruments not 
held at fair value through profit or loss. The expected credit losses are based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flow due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the Group expects to receive. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, expected credit losses are provided for credit losses 
that result from default events that are possible within the next 12 months. For those credit expo-
sures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss 
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespec-
tive of the timing of the default. For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in 
calculation expected credit losses and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime expected  
credit losses at each reporting date irrespectively of changes in credit risk using a provision ma-
trix, which is based on historical credit loss experienced, adjusted for forward-looking factors spe-
cific to debtors and the economic environment. A receivable is written off when there is no rea-
sonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 
 
The Group has entered into a number of lease agreements regarding property leases for our Fran-
chise partners. The Group sub-leases these property leases to our Franchise partners. 
In recognising right-of-use assets and lease liabilities the lease terms of the leases have to be 
determined. The lease term is the non-cancellable term of the lease together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease, if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods 
covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. Several 
lease contracts include extension and termination options. The Group applies judgement in eval-
uating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or termi-
nate the lease. That is, all relevant factors that create an economic incentive to exercise either the 
renewal or termination are considered. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the 
lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and 
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g. construc-
tion of significant leasehold improvements).  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
Prepayments 
 

Prepayments comprise incurred costs relating to subsequent financial years. Prepayments are 
measured at cost. 
 
Cash and short-term deposits 
 
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and 
on hand and short-term deposits. 
 

Equity – Foreign currency translation reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises exchange rate adjustments arising from 
translation of the financial statements of foreign entities with a currency that is not the Group’s 
presentation currency 
 
Financial liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities comprise loans, borrowings, trade payables and other financial liabilities. Fi-
nancial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans, borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.  
 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans, borrowings and payables are measured at amor-
tised cost using the effective interest method. Accordingly, any difference between the proceeds 
and the nominal value is recognised in the income statement as financial expenses over the term 
of the loan or at derecognition. This category is most relevant for the Group. This category gener-
ally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings. 
 
Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of leases, lease liabilities are recognised measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed pay-
ments (including insubstance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease 
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option rea-
sonably certain to be exercised and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 
term reflects that the option to terminate is exercised. Variable lease payments that do not de-
pend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condi-
tion that triggers the payment occurs.  
 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Groups incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date is used unless the interest rate implicit in the lease is readily deter-
minable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the 
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount 
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in 
the lease payments (e.g. changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

Lease liabilities (Continued)  

used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase 
the underlying asset. 
 
Deferred income 
 

Deferred income comprises income received for recognition in subsequent financial years. De-
ferred income is measured at cost. 
 
Taxes 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current income tax 
relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income state-
ment or the statement of other comprehensive income. 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the 
reporting date.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax as-
sets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax cred-
its and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. The carrying amount of 
deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilised.  
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to 
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset 
to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax relating 
to items recognised outside the income statement is recognised outside the income statement. 
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in the state-
ment of other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
Accounting policies, cash flow statement 
 

The cash flow statement shows cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities as 
well as cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the financial year. 
 
Cash flows from operating activities are presented using the indirect method and calculated as 
the operating profit/loss adjusted for non-cash operating items, working capital changes and in-
come taxes paid. 
 
Cash flows from investing activities comprise payments in connection with acquisition and di-
vestment of enterprises, activities, and fixed asset investments as well as purchase, development, 
improvement and sale, etc. of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, including 
acquisition of assets held under financial leases. 
 
Cash flows from financing activities comprise changes in the size or composition of the contrib-
uted capital and related costs as well as the raising of loans, inception of financial leases, instal-
ments on interest bearing debt, purchase of treasury shares and payment of dividend. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash. 
 
 
Accounting policies, other 
 

Consolidated financial statement 
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the Parent and the Group enterprises (subsidi-
aries) that are controlled by the Parent. Control is achieved by the Parent, either directly or indi-
rectly, holding more than 50% of the voting rights or in any other way possibly or actually exercis-
ing controlling influence.  
 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of the financial statements of 
the Parent and its subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining 
uniform items. On consolidation, intra-group income and expenses, intra-group accounts and 
dividends as well as profits and losses on transactions between the consolidated enterprises are 
eliminated. The financial statements used for consolidation have been prepared applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. 
 
Subsidiaries’ financial statement items are recognised in full in the consolidated financial state-
ments. Minority interests’ proportionate share of profit or loss is presented as a separate item in 
Management’s proposal for distribution of profit or loss, and their share of subsidiaries’ net assets 
is presented as a separate item in Group equity. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are offset at the pro rata share of such subsidiaries’ net assets at the 
acquisition date, with net assets having been calculated at fair value. 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
Consolidated financial statement (Continued) 
 
Business combinations of entities under common control are accounted for using the book-
value-method.  
 
Other business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method, according to 
which the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired are measured at their fair values at the date 
of acquisition. If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity inter-
est is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in  
the income statement. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be 
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest  
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. After initial recognition, 
goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impair-
ment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated 
to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 

For each of the enterprises in the Group, a functional currency is determined. The functional cur-
rency is the currency used in the primary financial environment in which the enterprise operates. 
Transactions denominated in other currencies than the functional currency are foreign currency 
transactions.  
 
On initial recognition, foreign currency transactions are translated to the functional currency at 
the exchange rates at the transaction date. Foreign exchange differences arising between the 
exchange rates at the transaction date and at the date of payment are recognised in the income 
statement as financial income or financial expenses.  
 
Receivables and payables and other monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated to the functional currency at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The difference 
between the exchange rates at the reporting date and at the date at which the receivable or 
payable arose or the rates in the latest annual report is recognised in the income statement as 
financial income or financial expenses.  
 
Foreign consolidated enterprises' statements of financial position are translated to Danish kroner 
at the exchange rates at the reporting date, while the enterprises' income statements and the 
statement of other comprehensive income are translated to the average exchange rates.  
 
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation of the opening equity of such foreign enter-
prises at the exchange rates at the reporting date and on translation of the income statements 
and the statement of other comprehensive income from the exchange rates at the transaction  



48 WHITEAWAY GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WHITEAWAY GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 49

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
Foreign currency translation (Continued) 
 
date to the exchange rates at the reporting date are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and in a separate translation reserve under equity. 
 

Fair value measurement 
 
The Group uses the fair value concept in connection with certain disclosure requirements and 
for recognition of some financial instruments. Fair value is defined as the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants ("exit price"). 

The fair value measurement is based on the primary market. If a primary market does not exist, 
the measurement is based on the most favorable market, which is the market that maximises 
the price of the asset or liability less transaction and transportation costs. 

To the widest possible extent, the fair value measurement is based on market values in active 
markets (level 1) or alternatively on values derived from observable market information (level 2).  

If such observable information is not available or cannot be used without significant modifica-
tions, fair values are based on generally accepted valuation methods and reasonable estimates 
(level 3).  

The fair value is a market-based and not an entity-specific valuation. The Group uses the as-
sumptions that the market participants would use for the pricing of the asset or liability based 
on existing market conditions, including assumptions relating to risks. The Group's intention to 
own the asset or settle the liability is thus not taken into consideration, when the fair value is de-
termined. 

The Group determines, whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy, by re-
assessing the categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 
3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates, and assumptions 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, costs, assets and liabilities, and 
the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about 
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to 
the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.  
 
In the process of applying the accounting policies, management has made the following judge-
ments, estimates and assumptions, which have the most significant effect on the amounts rec-
ognised in the financial statements:  
 
Recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
 
The Group has entered into a number of lease agreements regarding property leases for our Fran-
chise partners. The Group sub-leases these property leases to our Franchise partners. 
In recognising right-of-use assets and lease liabilities the lease terms of the leases have to be 
determined. The lease term is the non-cancellable term of the lease together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease, if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods 
covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. Several 
lease contracts include extension and termination options. The Group applies judgement in eval-
uating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or termi-
nate the lease. That is, all relevant factors that create an economic incentive to exercise either the 
renewal or termination are considered. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the 
lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and 
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g. construc-
tion of significant leasehold improvements).  
 
For leases of land and buildings renewal periods are included as part of the lease term for leases 
with shorter noncancellable periods. The renewal periods are included for the period that the 
Group expects to continue the lease taking into consideration that the retail business might look 
different in the future compared to the present setup. The renewal periods for leases of land and 
buildings with longer non-cancellable periods are not included as part of the lease term as these 
are not reasonably certain to be exercised. In addition, the renewal options for leases of motor 
vehicles are not included as part of the lease term because the Group typically leases motor ve-
hicles for no longer than the non-cancellable period and, hence, is not exercising any renewal 
options. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

Valuation of intangible assets 

Intangible assets are tested for impairment if there is an indication of impairment. For goodwill 
annual impairment tests are carried out. An impairment loss is recognised if the recoverable 
amount of an asset is lower than the asset's carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm's length, 
for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. 
The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the financial 
five-year plan. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model 
as well as the development in turnover and gross margins during the forecast period and the 
growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. For most intangible assets no fair value less costs of 
disposal exist. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount are disclosed and 
further explained in the relevant notes.  
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of calculated cost and net realisable value. The calculated cost 
comprises supplier discounts. Supplier discounts are recognised when it is probable that the eco-
nomic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group. A specific assessment of 
the need for write-down for obsolescence of inventories is made based on the future sales poten-
tial.  
 
Receivables 
 
The group is exposed to credit risk when selling to B2B customers. Historically the risk has been 
highest in Norway. Accounts Receivables are assessed at the balance sheet date, and based on a 
thorough evaluation of each account, the need for provision for loss on receivables is assessed. It 
is the Group's judgement that as of the balance sheet date, sufficient provision has been taken. 
 
Recognition of business combination 
 
As part of the recognition of the acquisition of Bolind A/S, Skousen Sartor AS, and Skousen Åsane 
AS businesses the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired are measured at their fair values at 
the date of acquisition. Please refer to note 20 for further information. 
 
 
  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 

 
          

4  Total revenue    2023/24  2022/23 
          
  Revenue     2.355.854  2.202.981 

  Other Services    65.804  70.213 

  Total Revenue    2.421.658  2.273.194 

          
  Geographical split       
          
  Denmark     1.640.440  1.618.901 

  Sweden     495.216  397.258 

  Norway     286.002  257.035 

  Total revenue    2.421.658  2.273.194 

          
  Channel split       
          
  B2C     1.121.964  1.014.014 

  B2B     1.299.694  1.259.180 

  Total revenue    2.421.658  2.273.194 
 
 

The Groups revenue consists of sales of products and services to B2C and B2B customers. Ser-
vices consist of royalties and fees, delivery & installation services and other after sales services. 
B2C revenue is generated through our various online platforms and is mainly cash based. B2B 
revenue is generated through sales to our Franchisees and through a wholesale concept to 
developers and key accounts, where sales are on credit terms. Sales on credit terms are non-
interest bearing if paid when due. 

 
The Group is invoicing in local currency in Norway and Sweden. Sourcing is mainly done in 
DKK and EUR, whereby the Group is exposed to fluctuations in currency. According to Group 
policy, the currency exposure is not hedged. 

 
No significant liability or right of product return is recognised, as the products are covered by 
manufactures guarantee. 

 
All revenue from contracts with customers is recognised at a point in time, and no revenue is 
recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous years. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 

 

          
5  Staff costs     2023/24  2022/23 

          
  Wages and salaries    148.630  127.948 

  Pension costs    25.349  9.986 

  Other social security costs   2.399  4.904 

  Other staff costs    745  8.561 

  Total staff costs    177.123  151.399 

          
  Average number of employees   290  244 

          
  Remuneration of management                
  Executive Board    5.588  6.042 

  Board of Directors    847  513 

  Total     6.435  6.555 
          

  Wages and salaries    5.938  6.090 

  Pension cost    497  465 

  Other     0  0 

  Total     6.435  6.555 
 

Key management personnel include Executive Board. Executive Board participate in a        
short-term incentive program, where the bonus is dependent on the profit for the year 
and other key figures.  
 

 
6  Other external cost    2023/24  2022/23 

          
  Fees paid to the auditors appointed at the Annual General Meeting:   
          
  Fee regarding the statutory audit   1.384  892 

  Tax assistance    154  78 

  Other services    293  295 

  Total     1.831  1.265 
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DKK thousands 
 
          
7  Special items       
  An agreement has been entered with 3 Norwegian franchisees for the acquisition of all 

shares in the legal entities of 3 Skousen stores. In connection with the takeovers, 
Whiteaway Group has incurred extraordinary costs, including the write down of 
receivables due from these stores. Refer to note 20 for a further description of the business 
combinations. 

Additionally, as a consequence of organizational changes made during the financial year, 
Whiteaway Group have incurred extraordinary severance costs.  

  

  
     2023/24  2022/23 

        

  
Write-down on receivables from franchisee and 
cost related to take over of stores  13.098  0 

  Extraordinary costs related to organizational changes 7.700  0 
  Total special items   20.798  0 
          
          

8  Financial income    2023/24  2022/23 
        

  Interest income from banks   358  254 

  Other financial income    299  217 

  Income from lease receivables   5.630  6.710 

  Foreign exchange gain    20.937  9.997 

  Total financial income   27.224  17.178 

          

          
9  Financial costs    2023/24  2022/23 

          
  Interest expense to banks   3.749  0 

  Interest expenses on lease liabilities   6.262  6.934 

  Other financial expenses    3.137  128 

  Foreign exchange loss    17.481  20.053 

  Total financial costs   30.629  27.115 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 
 

              
10  Income tax         2023/24  2022/23 

              
  Current income tax         -6.505  1.495 

  Change in deferred tax         26  2.532 

  Adjustment regarding prior years, deferred tax        -449  311 

  Total Income tax         -6.928  4.338 

              
              
  Income tax recognised in the income statements       -6.928  4.338 

  Total Income tax         -6.928  4.338 

              
              
  Reconciliation of income tax recognised in the income statement       
              
       2023/24  2022/23 

              
       DKK  %  DKK  % 

              

  

Tax on result for the year at the Danish income 
tax rate  -6.479  22,0%  4.363  22,0% 

  

Non-deductible costs including prior year ad-
justments   -354  1,2%  136  0,7% 

  Deviating tax rates in foreign operations  -95  0,3%  -161  -0,8% 

  

Income tax recognised in the income state-
ment  -6.928  23,5%  4.338  21,9% 
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DKK thousands 

11  Intangible assets            
              
  2022/23:            

   Goodwill  Software  Brand  

Other in- 
tangible 

assets 

 Develop-
ment  

projects 
in pro-

gress  Total 

              
  Cost        

    

  

Balance at 1 August 
2022 146.450  12.459  25.000  13.634 

 
0  197.543 

  Additions 0  0  0  275  0  275 

  Disposals -3.850  -140  0  -975  0  -4.965 

  Balance at 31 July 2023 142.600  12.319  25.000  12.934  0  192.853 

          
    

  

Accumulated amorti-
sation and impair-
ment losses:        

 

   

  

Balance at 1 August 
2022 -3.850  -8.883  -14.375  -10.123 

 
0  -37.231 

  Amortisation 0  -1.854  -2.500  -362  0  -4.716 

  Disposals 3.850  0  0  0  0  3.850 

  Balance at 31 July 2023 0  -10.737  -16.875  -10.485  0  -38.097 

          
    

  

Carrying amount at 
31 July 2023 142.600  1.582  8.125  2.449 

 

0  154.756 
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DKK thousands 

 
11  Intangible assets (Continued)     

    
              

  2023/24:        
    

   Goodwill  Software  Brand  

Other in- 
tangible 

assets 

 Develop-
ment  

projects 
in pro-

gress   Total 

              

  
Cost: 

       
    

  

Balance at 1 August 
2023 142.600  12.319  25.000  12.934 

 
0  192.853 

  Additions 0  70  0  0  14.346  14.416 

  

Additions related to      
acquisitions 0  511  0  7.199 

 
0  7.710 

  

Balance at 31 July 
2024 142.600  12.900  25.000  20.133 

 
14.346  214.979 

          
    

  

Accumulated amorti-
sation and impair-
ment losses:        

 

   

  

Balance at 1 August 
2023 0  -10.737  -16.875  -10.485 

 
0  -38.097 

  Amortisation 0  -881  -2.500  -1.471  0  -4.852 

  

Balance at 31 July 
2024 0  -11.618  -19.375  -11.956 

 
0  -42.949 

          
    

  

Carrying amount at 
31 July 2024 142.600  1.282  5.625  8.177 

 

14.346  172.030 

 

  Development projects in progress           
  Development projects in progress relate to development and test of a new ERP-

system. The project is started doing this financial year and is expected to be com-
pleted in 2025.   
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11  Intangible assets (Continued)         
            

  Impairment losses during the year        
            

  

For impairment testing, goodwill acquired through business combinations are allo-
cated to the cash generating units that benefit from the synergies resulting from the 
acquisitions. 

            
  Carrying amount of goodwill within the Group:       
       Goodwill 

         2023/24  2022/23 

  Goodwill WhiteAway A/S       100.000  100.000 

  Goodwill Tretti AB       42.600  42.600 

            

  

The goodwill amount in the Group is mainly related to acquired e-commerce activities. 
For impairment testing, the goodwill acquired is allocated to the cash generating 
units that benefit from the synergies resulting from the acquisition.  

            

  

The recoverable amount of the goodwill related to e-commerce has been determined 
based on a value in use calculation, using cash flow projections from the approved 
budgets for a 5-year period.  

            

  

Goodwill in Tretti AB is tested based on the e-commerce activities in Sweden being 
the Cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount is based on value in use and is es-
timated on input from Group management. The test includes a five-year budget pe-
riod followed by a terminal period. 

            

  

Key assumptions applied in the impairment test are expected revenue, gross margin, 
capacity cost, discount rate and growth rate in terminal period. Sensitivity tests over 
the key assumptions have been carried out showing gross margin and WACC to be 
the assumptions with the largest impact to the value-in-use. In the test, a discount 
rate of 11,6% (PY:10,4 %) and a perpetual growth assumption of 2% (PY: 2 %) have been 
applied. 

            

  

The impairment shows headroom from value in use to the carrying amount, thus 
there is no need for impairment. The management is of the opinion that the assump-
tions applied are sustainable. 
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12  Tangible assets          
            
  2022/23:          
            

   

Right-of-
use asset,           

Land and 
buildings 

 
Right-of-

use asset, 
other 

tangible      
assets  

Land and 
buildings 

 Fixtures 
and fit-

tings,  
tools and 

equip-
ment  Total 

            
  Cost:          
  Balance at 1 August 2022 8.583  0  0  17.177  25.760 

  Additions 6.832  0  0  1.228  8.060 

  Disposals -8.583  0  0  -175  -8.758 

  Balance at 31 July 2023 6.832  0  0  18.230  25.062 

            

  
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses:  

 
  

  
   

  Balance at 1 August 2022 -8.583  0  0  -16.737  -25.320 

  Depreciation -2.100  0  0  -334  -2.434 

  Disposals 8.583  0  0  0  8.583 

  Balance at 31 July 2023 -2.100  0  0  -17.071  -19.171 

            

  
Carrying amount at 
31 July 2023 4.732 

 
0  0 

 
1.159  5.891 
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12  Tangible assets (Continued)        
            
  2023/24:          
            

   

Right-of-
use asset,           
land and 

buildings 

 Right-of-
use asset, 

other     
tangible        

assets  

Land and 
buildings 

 Fixtures 
and fit-

tings,  
tools and 

equipment  Total 

            
  Cost:          
  Balance at 1 August 2023 6.832  0  0  18.230  25.062 

  Additions 10.040  0  0  8.958  18.998 

  
Additions related to      
acquisitions  1.537  4.474  17.430 

 

2.671  26.112 

  Disposals 0  0  0  -730  -730 

  Balance at 31 July 2024 18.409  4.474  17.430  29.129  69.442 

            

  

Accumulated amortisa-
tion and impairment 
losses:      

 

   
  Balance at 1 August 2023 -2.100  0  0  -17.071  -19.171 

  Depreciation -5.573  -1.185  -242  -1.957  -8.957 

  Disposals 0  0  0  115  115 

  Balance at 31 July 2024 -7.673  -1.185  -242  -18.913  -28.013 

            

  

Carrying amount at 
31 July 2024 10.736  3.289  17.188 

 

10.216  41.429 

            
 

  Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement 

  

The following amount regarding lease contracts classified as short term 
and low value leases is recognised in the income statement 

         
      2023/24  2022/23 

  

Cost related to short term and low 
value leases  

 
521   158 
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DKK thousands 
 

13  Financial assets and Financial liabilities         
            
  Financial assets comprise the following:  Carrying amount  Fair value 

     2023/24  2022/23  2023/24  2022/23 

  Financial assets:          
  Trade receivables   122.110  142.453  122.110  142.453 

            
  Other receivables   36.711  28.395  36.711  28.395 

            
  Prepayments   12.532  13.244  12.532  13.244 

            
  Lease receivables   125.473  130.005  125.473  130.005 

            
  Cash and short-term deposits   82.749  32.203  82.749  32.203 

            
  Trade receivables:        2023/24  2022/23 

  Trade receivables       171.020  172.254 

  Expected loss on receivables       -48.910  -29.801 

  Trade receivables, net       122.110  142.453 
            

  Trade Receivables          
  Not due       111.222  125.971 

  <30 days past due       5.778  3.945 

  31 to 90 days past due       5.110  12.537 

  Total       122.110  142.543 

            

  Trade Receivables 2022/23   

Trade re-
ceivables  

Reserve 
for exp. 

Loss  

Exp. Loss 
%  

Trade 
Rec. Net 

  Denmark   93.160  -4.430  4,8%  88.730 

  Norway   65.736  -23.168  35,2%  42.568 

  Sweden   13.358  -2.203  16,5%  11.155 

  Total   172.254  -26.951  15,6%  142.453 

            

  Trade Receivables 2023/24   

Trade re-
ceivables  

Reserve 
for exp. 

Loss  

Exp. Loss 
%  

Trade 
Rec. Net 

  Denmark   97.083  -16.153  16,6%  80.930 

  Norway   57.172  -31.390  54,9%  25.782 

  Sweden   16.765  -1.367  8,2%  15.398 

  Total   171.020  -48.910  28,6%  122.110 
 
  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 

 
13 Financial assets and Financial liabilities (Continued)       
        
  Lease receivables       2023/24  2022/23 
  Lease receivables       125.473  130.005 
  expected loss on Lease receivables      0  0 
  Lease receivabels net       125.473  130.005 
            
  Lease receivables -Denmark       104.389  105.840 
  Lease receivables - Norway       21.084  24.165 
  Lease receivables total       125.473  130.005 
            
  Lease receivables - short term       37.585  41.917 
  Lease receivables - long term       87.888  88.088 
  Lease receivables total       125.473  130.005 

 

  Financial liabilities comprise the follow-
ing:  Carrying amount  Fair value 

  Financial liabilities:   2023/24  2022/23  2023/24  2022/23 
            
  Credit institutions   105.991  101.607  105.991  101.607 
            
  Trade payables   376.621  219.281  376.621  219.281 
            
  Lease liabilities   139.139  135.037   139.139   135.037 
            
  Other payables   67.184  84.541  67.184  84.541 
            
  

Liabilities 2022/23 
Carrying 
amount  

Contrac-
tual cash 

flow  

Within 1 
year  

Within 1-
5 years  

After 5 
years 

            
  Trade payables 219.281  219.281  219.281  0  0 
  Lease liabilities 135.037  135.037  44.752  90.285  0 
            
  

Liabilities 2023/24 
Carrying 
amount  

Contrac-
tual cash 

flow  

Within 1 
year  

Within 1-
5 years  

After 5 
years 

            
  Trade payables 376.621  376.621  376.621  0  0 
  Lease liabilities 139.139  165.886  45.857  104.618  15.411 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 
 

13  Financial assets and Financial liabilities (Continued)     
       
  Fair value 

  

For cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables and payables, other receivables and 
payables and other short-term receivables and payables the carrying amount is a reason-
able approximation of fair value, largely due to the short-term maturities of the financial 
instruments. 
The Group's main risks are market risks relating to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates 
and interest rates, liquidity risk relating to the availability of funds to support business 
needs and credit risk relating to the undesirable event of a default among the Group's 
financial counterparties. There have been no structural changes in the Group's risk expo-
sure or risks compared to 2022/23. 
 

  Market risk 

  

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks such as commodity risk. Financial 
instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits and debt. 
 

  Currency risk 

  

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group's exposure to the risk 
of changes in foreign exchange rate relates primarily to the Group's operating activities 
and the Group's net investments in foreign subsidiaries.  
 

  Interest rate risks 

  
The Group is only exposed to interest risk to a minor extend 
 

  Liquidity risk 

  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle its financial liabilities, when 
they fall due. The liquidity reserve consists of cash and undrawn credit facilities. The Group 
currently has covenants related to dividend payment and key financial figures. The Group 
assesses the liquidity risk to be low. 
 

  Credit risk 

  

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial 
instrument leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operat-
ing activities (primarily trade receivables and lease receivables). The Group prepares 
credit ratings of customers and counterparties on a regular basis. Credit risks are man-
aged on the basis of internal credit ratings and credit lines for customers and financial 
counterparties. The credit lines are determined on the basis of the customers' and coun-
terparties' creditworthiness. Counterparty credit lines are reviewed on an ongoing basis 
and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of management. Reserve 
for expected loss is based on individual valuation of each counterpart and based on ex-
pected repayment ability.  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 
 

14  Deferred tax        
          
  Specification of deferred tax        

   

Consolidated income   
statement  

Consolidated statement 
of financial position 

   2023/24  2022/23  2023/24  2022/23 

          
  Intangible assets 461  976  -2.474  -1.351 

  Property, plant and equipment -398  108  -2.547  108 

  Provisions 44  -3.300  44  0 

  Tax loss carried forward -2.564  -2.172  3.636  5.000 

  Leases -133  66  -67  66 

  Other 0  -3.575  2.085  2.085 

  

Deferred tax expense /                 
Net deferred tax -2.590  -7.897  677  5.908 

          

  

Deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position as follows:  

       2023/24  2022/23 
          

  Deferred tax assets     677  5.908 

  Deferred tax liabilities     0  0 

  Net deferred tax     677  5.908 
          

  Reconciliation of deferred tax        
          
  Opening balance at 1 August     5.908  13.805 

  Tax loss used in joint taxation group     -2.564  -4.200 
  Deferred tax acquired from business combinations -2.641  0 

  

Adjustment of deferred tax recognised in the income state-
ment -26  4.900 

  Closing balance at 31 July     677  5.908 
   

  

All deferred tax liabilities are recognized. Tax loss carried forward that are not recognised 
amounts to a total value of 13,7 mDKK. The tax losses have not been capitalised as no con-
vincing evidence of use of the losses exists at the balance sheet date. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 
 

15  Inventories    2023/24  2022/23 

         
  Goods held for resale    308.835  280.667 

         
  Goods held for resale at cost   313.435  282.267 

  Writedown    -4.600  -1.600 

  Inventory Net    308.835  280.667 

         
         
16  Change in working capital    2023/24  2022/23 

         
  Change in inventories    -2.716  -25.869 

  Change in receivables    9.986  -5.923 

  Change in trade payables and others  98.639  -41.742 

  Total change in working capital  105.909  -73.534 

         
         
17  Cash and cash equivalents  2023/24  2022/23 

         
  Cash and short-term deposits    82.749  32.203 

  Current liabilities - bank loans  -105.991  -101.607 

  Cash and cash equivalents, net  -23.242  -69.404 
         

         
18  Related party disclosures    2023/24  2022/23 

         
  Services from Group Entities  14,233  10.387 

         
19  Capital Management       

         

  

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to con-
tinue as going concerns while maximising the return to the shareholders through the 
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. For the purpose of the Group's capital man-
agement, capital includes total equity 

  

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or ad-
just the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payments to shareholders 
or issue new shares. The Group has covenants in relation to bank facilities restricting div-
idend payments. 

 
  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 

 
 

20  Business combinations        
  On 31 December 2023, the group has completed the acquisition of all shares (100%) and 

achieved control of Skousen Sartor AS, and Skousen Åsane AS. On 29 February 2024, the 
group has completed the acquisition of all shares (100%) Hvidevare Grossisten ApS, and 
have subsequently been merged with WhiteAway A/S with accounting effect from Feb-
ruary 2, 2024. On 5 February 2024, the group has completed the acquisition of all shares 
(100%) Bolind A/S. Furthermore, the group has, as of May 31, 2024, achieved control of 
Skousen Sandefjord AS by acquiring all shares (100%).  
 
The activities of Skousen Sartor AS, Skousen Åsane AS, and Skousen Sandefjord AS con-
sist of the sale of home appliances, and related products in stores, and all stores are part 
of the Skousen-chain in Norway. The acquisition of Skousen Sartor AS, Skousen Åsane 
AS, and Skousen Sandefjord AS is intended to ensure the continued geographic pres-
ence of the Skousen-chain throughout Norway. 
 
The activities of Hvidevare Grossisten ApS consist of the sale of home appliances, and re-
lated products.  
 
The main activities of Bolind A/S are to act as a purchasing advisor and supplier to the 
Danish real estate sector of installed home appliances and operational goods, including 
especially plumbing, heating, and electrical items. The acquisition is expected to im-
prove market opportunities for the sale of home appliances to the real estate sector. 
 
Skousen Sartor AS contributes to the group revenue with 4.850 thousand DKK and the 
annual result for continuing activities with -841 thousand DKK for the period since the 
acquisition on December 31, 2023. 
 
Skousen Åsane AS contributes to the group revenue with 5.229 thousand DKK and the 
annual result for continuing activities with -1.600 thousand DKK for the period since the 
acquisition on December 31, 2023. 
 
Skousen Sandefjord AS contributes to the group revenue with 1.717 thousand DKK and 
the annual result for continuing activities with -359 thousand DKK for the period since 
the acquisition on May 31, 2024. 
 
Hvidevare Grossisten ApS contributes to the group revenue with 13.567 thousand DKK 
and the annual result for continuing activities with -1.279 thousand DKK for the period 
since the acquisition on February 5, 2023. 
 
Bolind A/S contributes to the group revenue with 102.662 thousand DKK and the annual 
result for continuing activities with -10.386 thousand DKK for the period since the acqui-
sition on February 5, 2023. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 

 
20  Business combinations (Continued)     

         

  

Specification of the recognized acquired assets and liabilities as of the date of acquisi-
tions:  

         

  

2023/24:  

   

Recognized value at 
the time of acquisition 

  Intangible assets  7.710 

  Tangible assets  20.101 
  Lease assets   6.011 
  Financial assets  150 
  Inventories  25.452 
  Receivables  30.459 
  Cash and short-term deposits  931 
  Deferred tax, net  -2.641 
  Lease liabilities  -6.011 
  Payables, non-current   -2.620 
  Credit institutions  -15.965 
  Payables, current  -31.336 
  Acquired net assets  32.241 
     
  Goodwill arising from the acquisition  0 
  Total   32.241 
     
  Cash payment during the financial year  27.967 
  Contingent consideration arrangement (Earn-out)  4.274 
  Fair value of consideration   32.241 
     
  Cash acquired from the acquisition  931 
  Cash paid for the acquisition  -27.967 
  Net cash flow from the acquisition  -27.036 
     
  The fair value of purchase consideration for Bolind A/S amounted to 24,273 thousand 

DKK, of which the entire consideration was paid in cash during the fiscal year. 
The fair value of the combined purchase consideration for Hvidevare Grossisten ApS 
amounted to 7.968 thousand DKK. The combined purchase consideration consists of 
cash payment amounted to 3.694 thousand DKK and a contingent consideration ar-
rangement amounted to 4.274 thousand DKK. 
The fair value of the combined purchase consideration for, Skousen Sartor AS, Skousen 
Åsane AS, and Skousen Sandefjord AS amounted to 0 thousand DKK, of which the entire 
consideration was paid in cash during the fiscal year. 

  
  
  
  
  

  

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 
 
20  Business combinations (Continued)     

  

The group has incurred transaction costs related to the acquisitions of approximately 800 
thousand DKK related to legal advisors, which are recognized in special items in the in-
come statement for the group for the fiscal year 2023/24. 
 
Fair value of acquired intangible assets, tangible assets and right-of-use assets amounts to 
22.752 thousand DKK. Fair value of the acquired property is based on an external market 
valuation.  
 
The fair value of the acquired finished goods has been determined based on the expected 
sales prices in normal business operations. 
 
Fair value of acquired trade receivables and other receivables amounts to 30.459 thousand 
DKK. Collectability of receivables has been assessed based on Group credit assessment 
policies. In total DKK 0 thousand DKK has been provided for as doubtful  
trade receivables.  
 
Liabilities are valued at the present value of the amounts required to settle the obligations. 
The group's pre-tax borrowing rate is used for discounting. Discounting is omitted for 
short-term liabilities when the effect is immaterial. 
 

       
21  Events after the reporting period              

  

Other than as set out elsewhere in this annual report, the Group is not aware of events oc-
curring after 31 July 2024 which are expected to have a material effect on the Group's finan-
cial position or outlook. 

22  New financial reporting regulations     
         

  

The following Amendments to IFRS  
• Amendment to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”  
• Amendment to IAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”  
• Amendment to IFRS 16 “Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback”  
• Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 “Supplier Finance Arrangements”  
 
the implemented Amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the 
financials or the Group’s accounting policies, as they cover areas that are not material 
and/or relevant for the Group or do not change the accounting policies applied in 2022/23. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
DKK thousands 
 
 

23  Contingent liabilities and financial commitments     
         

  

As security for the Group's bank facilities, a company pledge of 50 mDKK has been issued. 
Bolind A/S has provided a mortgage deed as security for liabilities to financial institutions. 
The mortgage deed is registered with a nominal value of 10 mDKK.  

  The Group has the following cross-collateralizations as security for bank facilities.  
           DKK thousands 

  Guarantor  Recipient    Amount 

         
  WhiteAway Group A/S  WhiteAway A/S    151.000             
  WhiteAway Group A/S  Skousen Online Skousen A/S    5.000           
  WhiteAway Group A/S  SOS Ejendomme 1 ApS    14.000  
         
  WhiteAway Group A/S  Skousen Eiendommer-Norge AS  5.015          
  WhiteAway A/S  Skousen Online Skousen A/S    5.000          
  WhiteAway A/S  SOS Ejendomme 1 ApS    14.000  
         
  WhiteAway A/S  Skousen Eiendommer-Norge AS       5.015 
         

  Skousen Online Services A/S  WhiteAway A/S    151.000           
  Skousen Online Services A/S  SOS Ejendomme 1 ApS    14.000           
  SOS Ejendomme 1 ApS  WhiteAway A/S    151.000  
         
  SOS Ejendomme 1 ApS  Skousen Online Skousen A/S    5.000  
         
  Bolind A/S  SOS Ejendomme 1 ApS    14.000  
         
  Bolind A/S  WhiteAway A/S    151.000  
         
  Bolind A/S  Skousen Online Skousen A/S    5.000  

  

Parent company financial statements.
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Parent company statement of profit or loss     
for the year ended 31 July 2024         

         2023/24  2022/23 

        DKK thousands  DKK thousands 

      Notes     

           
Other revenue       37.386  29.934 

Total Revenue     4  37.386  29.934 

           
Other external costs     5  -8.325  -9.290 
EBITDA       29.061  20.644 
          
Amortisations      10  -1.380  0 

Operating profit/loss       27.681  20.644 

           
Financial income     7  21  471 
Financial costs     8  -1.614  -1.653 

Profit/loss before tax       26.088  19.462 

           
Income tax      9  -5.794  -4.105 

Profit/loss for the year       20.294  15.357 

           

           
Proposal for distribution of profit for the year:        
Retained earnings       20.294  15.357 

        20.294  15.357 
 
 
  

Parent company statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 July 2024 
 

         2023/24  2022/23 

       DKK thousands  DKK thousands 

      Notes     
Profit for the year       20.294  15.357 

           
Other comprehensive income         
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax):       
Net other comprehensive income that may be reclas-
sified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:    0  0 

           
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax     20.294  15.357 

           
           
Attributable to:          
Equity holders of the parent      20.294  15.357 

        20.294  15.357 
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Parent company statement of financial position 
as at 31 July 2024 

        2023/24  2022/23 

    Notes DKK thousands  DKK thousands 

Assets          
Intangible assets        
Other intangible assets   10  737  0 
Total intangible assets    737  0 
          
Financial assets          
Investment in subsidiaries    11  274.934  274.934 
Total financial assets      274.934  274.934 

          
Total non-current assets      275.671  274.934 

          
Current assets          
Receivables     12     
Receivables from group enterprises     30.951  347 
Other receivables       2.109  3.955 
Total receivables       33.060  4.302 

          
Cash and short-term deposits      383  53 

          
Total current assets      33.443  4.355 

          
Total assets       309.114  279.289 

          
 
  

Parent company statement of financial position 
as at 31 July 2024 
 

        2023/24  2022/23 
     Notes DKK thousands  DKK thousands 

Equity and liabilities         
Equity          
Issued capital       588  588 
Retained earnings      96.554  76.260 
Equity attributable to equity holder of the parent    97.142  76.848 
          
          
Non-Current liabilities        
Deferred Tax     13  261  0 
Non-Current liabilities      261  0 
          
Current liabilities     12     
Trade payables       531  295 
Payables to group enterprises     203.269  197.029 
Income tax payable      5.858  4.281 
Other payables       2.053  836 
Total current liabilities      211.711  202.441 

          
Total liabilities       211.972  202.441 

Total equity and liabilities      309.114  279.289 
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Parent company statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 July 2024 

DKK thousands    

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent 

    Issued capital  

Retained         
earnings  

 
Total equity 

As at 1 August 2022  588  60.903  61.491 

Profit for the period    0  15.357  15.357 
Total comprehensive income 0  15.357  15.357 
At 31 July 2023    588  76.260  76.848 
         

 

              

DKK thousands    

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent 

    Issued capital  

Retained         
earnings  Total equity 

As at 1 August 2023 588  76.260  76.848 
Profit for the period 0  20.294  20.294 
Total comprehensive income 0  20.294  20.294 

         
At 31 July 2024    588  96.554  97.142 

 

      
 

      

Own shares:      
 

      
 
Whiteaway Group A/S own 7,755 pcs. of own shares, corresponding to 1,32% of the share capital. 
Whiteaway Group A/S has not purchased or sold own shares during the year 
 
The stock is recorded in the balance sheet at DKK 0. 

     

       
 

     

Share Capital       
 

     
As of 31 July, the share capital, which consists of one share class, com-
prises:  2023/24  2022/23 
587.827 shares of DKK 1     588  588 
Total share capital       588  588 

 

Parent company statement of cashflows 
for the year ended 31 July 2023 
 

       2023/24  2022/23 

     Notes DKK thousands DKK thousands 
          

Profit before tax     26.088  19.462 
Amortisation     1.380  0 
Change in working capital   14  -21.065  -15.015 
Income tax paid      -3.956  -5.707 

          
Net cash flows from operating activities    2.447  -1.260 

          
Purchase of intangible assets     -2.117  0 

          
Net cash flows form investment activ-
ities     -2.117  -1.260 

          
          

Net change in cash and cash equivalents    330  -1.260 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 august     53  1.313 

          
Cash and cash equivalents 31 July      383  53 
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Index to Notes to the parent company financial statements 
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Notes to the parent company financial statements 
 

1  Corporate information         

  

WhiteAway Group A/S parent primary business area is to own shares in subsidiaries 
and trademarks related to the WhiteAway Group. The subsidiaries (the Group) primary 
business area is selling home appliances. The Group main business is selling through 
the Groups e-commerce platforms, sales through a franchise set-up and B2B sales to 
the professional segment as well as partnerships. The Group operates in Denmark, 
Norway and Sweden. 

  
           

 
2  Summary of significant accounting policies 

 
 

  

For a summary of significant accounting policies, please refer to note 2 in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statement. 

  
            

  Investment in subsidiaries  
  

  

Investment in subsidiaries are measured at cost. If the cost exceeds the recoverable 
amount, the carrying amount is reduced to this lower amount. When selling subsidi-
aries gains or losses are calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of 
the sold investments and the fair value of the proceeds from the sale. 

  Own shares 
  

  

Acquisition and disposal sum as well as dividends from own shares are recognized di-
rectly in retained earnings in equity. Proceeds from sale of own shares in WhiteAway 
Group A/S is entered directly in equity. 

  
            

  Dividends  
 

  

Dividends are recognized as a liability at the time of adoption at the ordinary general 
meeting (declaration time). Dividends expected to be declared for the year are shown 
as a separate item under equity. 

  
           

 
3  Significant accounting judgements, estimates, and assumptions   

  

Management assesses annually whether there is an indication of impairment of  
investments in subsidiaries. If indications are present, investments will be tested  
for impairment using the same principles as applied on the Group’s goodwill (de-
scribed in note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements), involving various  
estimates on future cashflows, growth, discount rates, etc. 
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Notes to the parent company financial statements 
DKK thousands 

 

4  Total revenue   2023/24  2022/23 
         

  Revenue from royalties      37.386  29.934 

  Total other revenue    37.386  29.934 
         
  Geographical split       
  Denmark    30.949  24.180 
  Norway    6.437  5.754 

  Total other revenue    37.386  29.934 
       

  Revenue consists of royalty payments related to trademarks 

       
5  Other external cost 

  

The auditor's fee is not disclosed by reference to § 96 subsection of the Annual Accounts Act. 
3. The fee is specified in the consolidated accounts for WhiteAway Group A/S. 

   
6  Staff costs 

  The company has no employees. 
   

  Remuneration of management                
  Executive Board    838  906 

  Board of Directors    191  77 

  Total     1.029  983 
          
  Wages and salaries    949  900 

  Pension cost    80  83 

  Total     1.029  983 
   
  Remuneration to the company's management has been incurred by subsidiaries. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7  Financial income      2023/24  2022/23 
              

  Foreign exchange gain      21  471 

  Total financial income     21  471 

              
8  Financial cost      2023/24  2022/23 

              
  Interest expenses to group entities     1.473  1.468 

  Interest expenses bank      141  185 

  Total financial costs     1.614  1.653 
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Notes to the parent company financial statements 
DKK thousands 
 

           2023/24  2022/23 

              
9  Income tax            

              
  Current income tax         5.479  4.281 

  Change in deferred tax      261  0 

  Adjustment regarding prior years, current income tax      54  153 

  Total Income tax         5.794  4.105 

              
  Income tax recognised in the income statements      5.794  4.105 

  Total Income tax         5.794  4.105 

              
  Reconciliation of income tax recognised in the income statement      
              
       2023/24  2022/23 

              
       DKK  %  DKK  % 

              

  

Tax on result for the year at the Danish income tax 
rate  5.740  22,0%  4.281  22,0% 

  Adjustment to prior periods     54  0,2%  -153  -0,9% 

  Income tax recognised in the income statement  5.794  22,2%  4.105  21,1% 

              
 

  

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
DKK thousands 

10  Intangible assets        
    

              

          
    

  2023/24:        
    

          
 Other intan-

gible assets  

              
  Cost:            
  Balance at 1 August 2023      0 

  Additions         2.117 

  Balance at 31 July 2024        2.117 
              

  

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses:      

 
   

  Balance at 1 August 2023      0 

  Amortisation         -1.380 

  Balance at 31 July 2024        -1.380 

              

  Carrying amount at 31 July 2024     737 

 
              

11  Investment in subsidiaries         2023/24  2022/23 

              
  WhiteAway A/S         78.925  78.925 

  Tretti AB         146.161  146.161 

  Skousen Online Services A/S         47.316  47.316 

  Panorama Retail AB         1.532  1.532 

  Aktieselskabet af 25.2.2021         1.000  1.000 

  Total investment in subsidiaries         274.934  274.934 
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12  Financial assets and Financial liabilities         
            
  Financial assets comprise the following:  Carrying amount  Fair value 

     2023/24  2022/23  2023/24  2022/23 

  Financial assets:          
  Receivables from group enterprises  30.951  347  30.951  347 

  Other receivables   2.109  3.955  2.109  3.955 
            

  Cash and short-term deposits   383  53  283  53 

            

  

The parent company recognises an allowance for impairment of receivables. The entire al-
lowance for impairment of receivables related to receivables from group enterprises and 
Other receivables is immaterial. 

            
            
  Financial liabilities comprise the following:  Carrying amount  Fair value 

     2023/24  2022/23  2023/24  2022/23 

  Financial liabilities:          

  Trade payables   531  295  531  295 
            

  Payables to group enterprises   203.269  197.029  203.269  197.029 
            

  Income tax payable   6.119  4.281  6.119  4.281 
            

  Other payables   2.053  836  2.053  836 

            

  Liabilities 2022/23 
Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flow  

Within 1 
year  

Within 1-
5 years  

After 5 ye-
ars 

            

  Trade payables 295  295  295  0  0 

  Payables to group enterprises 197.029  197.029  197.029  0  0 

  Income tax payable 4.281  4.281  4.281  0  0 

  Other payables 836  836  836  0  0 
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12  Financial assets and Financial liabilities (Continued)     
            
  

Liabilities 2023/24 
Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flow  

Within 1 
year  

Within 1-
5 years  

After 5 
years 

            
  Trade payables 531  531  531  0  0 
  Payables to group enterprises 203,269  203,269  203,269  0  0 
  Income tax payable 5,858  6,119  6,119  0  0 
  Other payables 2,053  2,053  2,053  0  0 

            
            
  Fair value          
            
  For cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables and payables, other receivables and pay-

ables and other short-term receivables and payables the carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value, largely due to the short-term maturities of the financial instru-
ments. 

  Risks arising from financial instruments          
            
  The parent company's main risks are market risks relating to fluctuations in foreign ex-

change rates. There have been no structural changes in the Group's risk exposure or risks 
compared to 2022/23.                                                                       . 
 
For an in-depth description of risks and policies for managing risks please refer to note 14 in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statement.  

  Currency risk          
            
  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will 

fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The parent company's exposure to 
the risk of changes in foreign exchange rate relates primarily to the parent company's paya-
ble and receivables to group enterprises 
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13  Deferred tax        
          
  Specification of deferred tax        

   

Parent income          
statement  

Parent statement of     
financial position 

   2023/24  2022/23  2023/24  2022/23 

          
  Intangible assets 261  0  -261  0 

  

Deferred tax expense /                 
Net deferred tax 261  0  -261  0 

          

  

Deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position as follows:  

       2023/24  2022/23 
          

  Deferred tax assets     0  0 

  Deferred tax liabilities     261  0 

  Net deferred tax     -261  0 
          

  Reconciliation of deferred tax        
          
  Opening balance at 1 August     0  0 

  

Adjustment of deferred tax recognised in the income state-
ment -261  0 

  Closing balance at 31 July     -261  0 
   

  

All deferred tax liabilities are recognized. No tax loss persists.  
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DKK thousands 

 

14  Change in working capital          
         2023/24  2022/23 

  Receivables       -28.758  546 

  Trade payables and other       7.693  -15.561 

  Total change in working capital      -21.065  -15.015 

            
            
15  Related party disclosures          

  

 

Royalty income from Group entities      36.386  29.934 

  Services from Group Entities       1.731  513 

            
16  Capital Management                      

  

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to con-
tinue as going concerns while maximising the return to the shareholders through the opti-
misation of the debt and equity balance. For the purpose of the Group's capital manage-
ment, capital includes total equity. 

            

  

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in eco-
nomic conditions and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payments to shareholders or issue new 
shares. The Group has covenants in relation to bank facilities restricting dividend payments. 

            
17  Events after the reporting period                     

  

Other than as set out elsewhere in this annual report, the Group is not aware of events oc-
curring after 31 July 2024 which are expected to have a material effect on the Group's finan-
cial position or outlook. 
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DKK thousands 

 
18  New financial reporting regulations                     

  

The following Amendments to IFRS  
• Amendment to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”  
• Amendment to IAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”  
• Amendment to IFRS 16 “Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback”  
• Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 “Supplier Finance Arrangements”  
 
the implemented Amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the fi-
nancials or the Group’s accounting policies, as they cover areas that are not material and/or 
relevant for the Group or do not change the accounting policies applied in 2022/23  

19  Contingent liabilities and financial commitments       
            

  

WhiteAway Group A/S has provided a guarantee of payment of 175 mDKK for Skousen 
Online Service A/S, SOS Ejendomme 1 ApS, Skousen Eiendommer-Norge AS and WhiteAway 
A/S' ongoing credit line in Nordea.         
 
The Company participates in a joint Danish taxation arrangement with HEARTLAND A/S 
serving as the administration company. According to the joint taxation provisions of the 
Danish Corporation Tax Act, the Company is therefore secondarily liable for income taxes 
ect for the jointly taxed entities as well as the withholding of tax on interest, royalties and 
dividends for the jointly taxed entities. The jointly taxed entities' total known net liability un-
der the joint taxation arrangement is disclosed in the administration company's financial 
statements. 

 


